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2023 10

2014 47,204,495.18 7,057,544 10.495 1,569
2015 38,889,485.62 5,814,367 10.144 1,517
2016 23,984,093.46 3,585,862 9.327 1,394
2017 16,710,779.19 2,498,429 10.226 1,529
2018 11,725,170.03 1,753,030 9.909 1,481
2019 10,731,974.05 1,604,537 10.347 1,547
2020 7,484,151.49 1,118,955 9.539 1,426
2021 4,825,361.38 721,440 9.183 1,373
2022 3,080,916.23 460,628 8.185 1,224
10 2,299,300.19 343,768 7.919 1,184

2023 7 k) - ’ - t
2022 11 2,505,247.22 374,560 7.873 1,177
12 2,605,354.05 389,526 8.127 1,215
2023 2,687,116.03 401,751 8.352 1,249
2,433,559.39 363,841 7.944 1,188
2,536,480.93 379,229 8.246 1,233
2,519,277.40 376,657 8.190 1,224
2,343,392.64 350,361 7.918 1,184
2,299,300.19 343,768 7.919 1,184
2,291,139.41 342,548 8.071 1,207
2,148,195.41 321,177 7.799 1,166
1,996,101.12 298,437 7.430 1,111
10 1,946,711.18 291,053 7.298 1,091

2022 12 2023
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2014 12,233,407.51 1,164,498 10.629 1,012

2015 8.,474,157.70 806, 655 10.490 999

2016 8,060,522.95 767,281 9.677 921

2017 4,196,907.51 399,504 10.649 1,014

2018 3,297.,043.48 313,846 10.292 980

2015 4,463,685.73 424,898 10.636 1,012

2020 3,156,860.01 300,502 9.616 915

2021 2.427.576.83 231,081 9.176 873

2022 1,721,685.74 163,887 8.088 770

10 1,487,207.01 141,567 7.647 728
2023 ,487,207. ’ '

2022 11 1,508,111.03 143,557 7.722 735

12 1,546,764.87 147,237 7.954 757

2023 1,586,457.64 151,015 8.158 777

1,504,096.23 143,175 7.735 736

1,558,019.09 148,308 8.011 763

1,544,668.11 147,037 7.943 756

1,490,267.57 141,859 7.664 730

1,487,207.01 141,567 7.647 728

1,513,773.56 144,096 7.784 741

1,459,205.51 138,902 7.504 714

1,388,096.78 132,133 7.137 679

10 1,359,470.36 129,408 6.996 666
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2014 2,461,316.80 390,513 10.463 1,660

2015 2,291,896.26 363,632 10.072 1,598

2016 1,629,381.23 258,518 9.183 1,457

2017 1,349,993.60 214,190 9.907 1,572

2018 1,040,801.60 165,134 9.347 1,483

2015 768,129.56 121,871 9.461 1,501

2020 602,899.49 95,656 8.492 1,347

2021 424,333.73 67,325 8.078 1,282

2022 320,474.33 50,846 7.097 1,126

10 218,913.66 34,733 6.662 1,057
2023 -913. ’ ' ’

2022 11 247.199.76 39,221 6.749 1,071

12 247.170.60 39,216 6.939 1,101

2023 24956409 39,596 7.109 1,128

236,742.12 37,562 6.744 1,070

245.119..60 38,801 6.982 1,108

242.982.58 38,552 6.922 1,008

243,163.41 38,580 6.678 1,060

218,913.66 34,733 6.662 1,057

222.748.17 35,341 6.779 1,076

214,691.34 34,063 6.533 1,037

164,148.65 26,044 6.212 986

10 161,262.19 25,586 6.103 968
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2013 13 4.95
2014
2014 2015 -3.34
2015 2016 -8.05
2016 2017 9.64
2017 2018 -3-10
2018 2019 4.42
2019 2020 -7.81
2020 2021 -3.73
2021 2022 -10.87
2022 w0 2023 =3-25
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2013 13 6.29
2014
2014 2015 -1.31
2015 2016 775
2016 2017 10.04
2017 2018 ~3-35
2018 2019 3.34
2019 2020 =959
2020 2021 ~4.58
2021 2022 -11.86
2022 0 2023 =545
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2017 2018 =565
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2013 " 5,649,999, 225 1,152,275.410 | 4,497,723.815
2014 (5.649.999.225) | (1.152.275.410) | (4.497.723.815)
2014 988,912.962 1,652,866.295 | 3.833,770.482
oo (988.912.962) | (1.652.866.295) | (3.833.770.482)
2015 95,047.671 1,357,480.370 | 2,571,337.783
oL (95.047.671) | (1.357.480.370) | (2.571.337.783)
2016 115, 643.499 1,052,798.202 1,634,183.080
oo (115.643.499) | (1.052.798.202) | (1.634.183.080)
2017 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183, 269.356
o 46248094 497.161.818 1.183.269.356
2018 72.941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
oo 72.941.181 218.967.255 1.037.243.282
2015 2,374.612 255.,072.475 784.,545.419
o (2.374.612) (255.072.475) (784.545.419)
2020 3,063.740 262,117.487 525.491.672
200 3.063.740 262.117.487 525.491.672
2021 2,956.747 152,037.915 376,410.504
o 2. 956.747 152.037.915 376.410.504
202;0 6,074.860 92,123.270 290,362.094
o 6.074.860 92.123.270 290.362..094
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2013 " 1,469,342.234 318,356.255 1,150,985.979
2014 (1.469.342.234) | (318.356.255) | (1.150.985.979)
2014 262.602.779 605,740.732 807.848.026
oo (262.602.779) (605.740.732) (807.848.026)
2015 250,329.765 225.302.621 832,875.170
o (250.329.765) (225.302.621) (832.875.170)
2016 25.505.490 464,264.185 394,116.475
2o (25.505.490) (464.264.185) (394.116.475)
2017 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
o 18.400.459 92.166.056 320350878
2018 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
oo 133.469.880 34.143.649 419.677.109
2015 10,483.078 101,856.996 328.303.191
20 (10.483.078) (101.856.996) (328.303.191)
2020 4,907.245 68,643.053 264,567.383
oo 4.907.245 68.643.053 264.567.383
2021 18,524.419 70,220.247 212,871.555
o 18.524.419 70.220.247 212.871.555
202;0 0 18, 395660 194,475.895
20 0 18.395. 660 104. 475.895
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2013 13 269,404 .269 34,165.676 235,238.593
2014 (269,404.269) (34,165.676) (235,238.593)
2014 42,476.626 50,167.189 227,548.030
5016 (42,476.626) (50,167.189) (227,548.030)
2015 13,310.936 63,432.042 177,426.924
S0le (13,310.936) (63,432.042) (177,426.924)
2016 5,477.811 46,640.242 136,264.493
5017 (5,477.811) (46,640.242) (136,264.493)
2017 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
5018 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
2018 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
5019 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
2019 0 10,195.467 70,993.578
5020 ©) (10,195.467) (70,993.578)
2020 1,429.870 19,891.911 52,531.537
50921 1,429.870 19,891.911 52,531.537
2021 877.489 8,255.811 45,153.215
5092 877.489 8,255.811 45,153.215
202;0 1,308.520 13,601.236 32,860.499
5093 1,308.520 13,601.236 32,860.499

2013 30 2013 11

11
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3,000 0.01
100 0.01 100
0.01 100 0.01
15

2.20 2.00

10

62/249



17

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1,000

10
10

63/249



15

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1,000

17

64/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(b) ©
@
@ (b)

@ (b)

65/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@

66/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2157 10 21

30

67/249



90

149

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

90

68/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

69/249



14

10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10

10

70/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

71/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

131

23 103

2023 10 31
149.51 95.19 158.66
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2023 30
)
2023 2022
41,845 6,256 43,890 6,562
3,642,147 544,537 4,663,349 697,217
30,000 4,485 50,000 7,476
5,041 754
3,719,033 556,033 4,757,239 711,255
23,488 3,512 15,954 2,385
114,346 17,096 107,972 16,143
57,370 8,577 44,601 6,668
195,204 29,185 168,527 25,196
3,523,829 526,848 4,588,712 686,058
194,476 212,871
32,860 45,154
290,362 374,943
7.647 728 8.088 770
6.662 1,057 7.097 1,126
7.919 1,184 8.185 1,224
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2023 30
( )
2023 2022
8,12(a) 3 0 3 0
g (48,213) (7.208) (639, 316) (95,584)
(780) 117) (517) an
(48,990) (7.324) (639,830) (95,661)
12(a) (6,202) (927) (9,629) (1,440)
12(a) (11,318) (1,692) (10,716) (1,602)
122) (2,326) (348) (3.611) (540)
12(b) (29,072) (4,347) (45,138) (6,749)
12(a) (388) (58) (602) (90)
12(b) (3,101) (464) (4,815) (720)
(34,363) (5.138) (32,773) (4,900)
12(a) (8,011) (1,198) (8,011) (1,198)
12(a) (27,973) (4,182) (43,520) (6,507)
(23,250) (3,476) (44,744) (6,690)
(146,004) (21,829) (203,559) (30,434)
(194,994) (29,154) (843,389) (126,095)
)
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2023 30
( )
2023 2022
4,588,712 686,058 7,147,359 1,068,602
11(a) 120,827 18,065
11(a) 9,826 1,469 8,164 1,221
11(a) 61,450 9,187 27,900 4,171
71,276 10,656 156,891 23,457
11(a) (99,687) (14,904) (462,689) (69,177)
11(a) (96,286) (14,396) (72,404) (10,825)
11(a) (745,192) (111,414) (1,337,056) (199,903)
(941,165) (140,714) (1,872,149) (279,905)
(869,889) (130,057) (1,715,258) (256,448)
(194,994) (29,154) (843,389) (126,095)
3,523,829 526,848 4,588,712 686,058
)
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30
)

2023 2022
(194,994) (29,154) (843,389) (126,095)
(©) © (©) ©)
(194,997) (29,154) (843,392) (126,096)
1,021,202 152,680 2,485,731 371,642
7,534 1,126 14,588 2,181
20,000 2,990 99,932 14,941
6,374 953 55,943 8,364
3 0 3 0
860,116 128,596 1,812,805 271,032
66,235 9,903 156,891 23,457
(928,396) (138,804) (1,946,657) (291,045)
(862,161) (128,902) (1,789,766) (267,588)
(2,045) (306) 23,039 3,445
43,890 6,562 20,851 3,117
41,845 6,256 43,890 6,562
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2023 2022
41,845 43,890
2023 2022
3,642,063 4,663,349
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2023 30 30,000 (2022 50,000 )
(
)
2023 2022
3 3
2023 2022
8,714 (445,404)
(56,927) (193,912)
(48,213) (639, 316)
(115,723) (175,824)
« ) 67,510 (463,492)
(48,213) (639, 316)
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( )
( )
2022 30
(2022 )
2023 30 2022 30
999,979 49,999 1,202,805 60,140
316,929 15,846 337,738 16,887
1,316,908 65,845 1,540,543 77,027
(2022
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2023 30 2022 30
2023
111,853 2,493 114,346
57,370 57,370
3,523,829 3,523,829
3,693,052 2,493 3,695,545
23,488 23,488
2022
105,479 2,493 107,972
44,601 44,601
4,588,712 4,588,712
4,738,792 2,493 4,741,285
15,954 15,954
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2023
26,258 24,000 2023 31 84
84
1,506,681 1,021,624 2023 31 (21,645)
244,555 268,460 2023 31 (1,752)
24,000 26,228 2023 (91)
(23,488)

2022
321,697 341,741 2022 29 (4,003)
1,748,552 1,214,756 2022 29 (11,951)
(15,954)
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18,524 878 3,227
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1,184,003 335,809 3,080,916 4,600,728
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( ) ( )
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212,871 45,154 374,943
30
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( )
2023 2022
( ) 3,523,829 4,600,728
(
)
( ) 7.647 8.088
( ) 6.662 7.097
7.919 8.185
( )
( ) 8.247 9.157
( ) 7.187 8.061
8.445 9.165
( ) 7.325 8.088
( ) 6.413 7.097
7.448 8.185
( ) -5.45 -11.86
( ) -6.13 -12.14
-3.25 -10.87
2023 2022
( )
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Tampdpden Ginha! Band Fusth Fomin Crmengy Senes
& S sl of Rind Avs Giobad fave sirsnls (Caparan) Tred
Financis stalemants for the year anded 30 Jfune 2023

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023
(Expressed in Unied States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

MNote 2023 2022

Assets
Current assetg
Cash and cash equivalents 312 5 41,845 3 43,850
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss 4 .12 3642147 4 663,249
Amounts due from brokers ] 30,000 50,000
Subscription receivable 5] 5.041 -
Total assets $ 3719033 § 4,757,239
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabiliies at fair value through profit or

loss 412 5 23,488 3 15,954
Accruals and other payables 12 114,346 107,972
Redemption payable 7 57,370 44,601
Total liabilities (excluding net assets

attributable to unitholdars) Y 195,204 % 168,527
Met assets attributable to the unitholders 11 & 3523829 $ 4588712
Total number of units in issue
AUD Hedged class 11(a) 194,476 212,871
EUR Hedged class 11(a) 32,860 45,154
USD class 11(a) 290,362 374,943
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Templafon Global Bond Fund Forelgn Qurancy Serfas -
& sariag sl of Red Arc Giobal invesimants (Capman) Tosf
Financial statemants for the year anded 20 Juna 2023

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023

(continued)
(Expressad in Unifed States dollars unless ofherwise indicated)

Note 2023 2022
Met asset value per unit
AUD Hedged class ALD 7.647  AUD  B.083
EUR Hedged class EUR G662 EUR  7.097
USD class UsoD 7.319 ush 8185

Approved and authorsed for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 15 December 2023

N~ )
T PR } Forand on behalf of
, el .:ir-'] FirstCaribbean intemational Bank
Y e } and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (*Trustee”)
oty L1
)
i } Forand on bekall of Citigroup First Invesiment
J”/f } Management Limited ("Manager™)
: }

The notes on pages 12 to 40 form part of these finandal statements.
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Timpdindon Glaba! Bond Fund Fomin Cuirengy Sens
& S st of Rid Asc Globad i strments (Cagroran) Tresd
Financis sleleman s for the year anded 30 June 2023

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in Uniled States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2023 2022

Interest income & 12a) 5 3 3 3
Met loss on financial instruments at fair value

through profit or loss 9 (48,213} (639,316)
Met foreign exchange loss (780} (517)
Total loss g (48.990) § (639,830
Management fee 12(a) S {6,202) 3 (9,629)
Trustee fee 12ia) (11,218) (10,716)
Administrater, transfer agent and custodian

fees 12(a) (2.328) {3,611)
Distributor fee 12ib) (29.072) (45,138)
Agent company fee 12(a) (388) (B02)
Senvice provider fee 12{b}) (3,101} (4,815)
Audit fee (34,263} (32,773)
Financial statements preparation fee 12(a) {8.011) {8.011)
Legal and professional fee 12(a) (27.973) (43,520)
Others {23,250) (44,744)
Total oparating expenses § (146004) S (203,559
Change in net assets attributable to the

unitholders from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year $  (1949%4) $ (843,389

The notes on pages 12 to 40 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in net assets attributable to the
unitholders

for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in Unied Siates dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

Note 2023 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year § 4588712 % 7147359
Transactions with the unitholders
Subscription of units
- AUD Hedged class 1Ma) 5 - % 120,827
- EUR Hedged class 11(a) 9,826 8,164
- USD dass 11{a) 61,450 27,200

5 71.276 8 156,891

Redemption of units

- AUD Hedged class 1a) 5 (89687) §  (452.689)
- EUR Hedged class 11(a) (96,286) (72,404)
- UsD dass 11(a) (745,192) (1,337,0586)
§ (941,165) § (1.872149)

Total transactions with the unitholders & (869,889) § (1,715258)

Change in net assets attributable to the
unitholders from operations and total
comprahensive income for the year {194,994) (843,389)

Balance at the end of the year & 3523829 F 4588712

The notes on pages 12 to 40 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in Uniled States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022

Operating activities
Change in net assets atiributable to the

unitholders from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year kS (194894 % (843,389)
Adjustments for:

Interest income (3) (3]
Operating loss before changes in working

capital &  (124997) §  (843,392)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 1,021,202 2485731
Increase in financial liabilites at fair value

through profit or loss 7.534 14,588
Decrease in amounts due from brokers 20,000 99,932
Increase in accruals and other payables 6,374 55,943
Interest received 3 3
Meat cash generated from operating activities - 860,116 $ 1212805
Financing activities
Proceeds from unit subscriptions & 66,235 g 156,891
Payments on unit redemptions (928,396) (1,948,657)
Met cash used in financing activities & (862,161) & (1.789.766)
Met (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash

equivalents & {2045y & 23,039
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year 43,890 20,851
Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year & 41845 8 43,890

The notes on pages 12 to 40 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in United Siates dolars unless otherwise indicated)

1 General

Red Arc Global Investments {Cayman) Trust (the "Trust") is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted trust under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated
21 October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Ciigroup First
Investment Management LUmited as manager (the “Manager”) and FirstCarmibean
International Bank and Trust Company {Cayman) Limited as trustee (the “Trustee") (jointly
“Management”). The Trust was registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the Cayman
Islands on 27 October 2008. Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Cumency Series (the
“Senes Trust”) was established on S August 2013, The Series Trust's first dealing day was
17 September 2013,

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to maximise total investment refum consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and curency gains, by adopting
investment strategy set out in note 10{a).

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Trust and the Series Trust had no employess. The
investment activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration
and custodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank M.A. Hong Kong
Branch (the “Administrator” and the “Custodian™). SMBC Trust Bank Ltd. is the distributor
(the "Distributor”) of the Series Trust.

2  Significant accounting policies
{a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards {"HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HEASS") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Series Trust is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFREs that are first effective or available
for eary adoption for the curment accounting period of the Series Trust, Mote 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments fo the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prier
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b} Basis of preparation

The functional and presentation currency of the financial statements is the United States
Dallar (USD or $) (rounded to the nearest USD) and not the local currency of the Cayman
Islands reflecting the fact that the units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD
and the Series Trust's peformance is measured in USD terms.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note Z{e) below, Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost or redemption amount (redeemable units),

The preparation of inancial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and assocated
assumptions are based on historical expenence and various other factors fhat are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgements about carmying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions o
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussad in
note 13,

{c] Foreign currency translation

Foreign cumency fransactions during the year are franslated inte USD at the foreign
exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign cumencies are franslated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of
the reporting period, Foreign cumency differences arising on translation are recognised in
profit or loss as net foreign exchange gain or loss, except for those arsing from financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through prefit or loss, which are recognised as a component
of the net gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

{d) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Series Trust. Mone of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Series Trust's result and financial pesition for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the cument accounting period (see note 14).
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(&) Financial instruments
{1y Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Finandal instruments are measured initially at fair value, which
normally will be equal to the transaction price.  Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately.

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using
frade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses ansing from changes in fair
value of the financial assets o financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recorded as they ocour.

(i} Categorisation

Cn initial recegnition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortised
cost or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FWTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- its contractual temms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest ("SFPI"),

All ather financial assets of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.

Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is

held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is

managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets
to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assats held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

- how Management is compensated. e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of finandal assets in prior perods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parlies in fransactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's
continuing recognition of the assets.

The Series Trust has determined that it has two busingss models.

- Held-te-collect business model: this incdudes cash and cash equivalents, amount due from
brokers and subscription recelvable. These financial assets are held 1o collect contractual
cash fiow.

- Other business model: this indudes investment in investment fund and derivative financial
instruments. These financial instruments are managed and their performance s
evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial
assefl on initlal recognition. ‘Interest is defined as consideration for the time value of money
and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular
period of ime and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity sk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the
confractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assefs (2.g. non-
recourse features), and

= features that modify consideration for of the time value of money (&.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust classifies its investments Dbased on the business model and contractual
cash flows assessment.  Accordingly, the Sernes Trust classifies all its investments in
investment fund and derivative financial instruments into financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL category. Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and cash
equivalents, amount due from brokers and subscription receivable. Financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost include accruals and other payables and redemption payable.

Reclassifications

- Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their inifial recognition unless the
Series Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which
case all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model,

(i) Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal
or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Seres Trust has access at
that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a finandial instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the assel or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a prce from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not
active, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation techniques that provide a
reliable estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions. For
investments in investment fund, the Seres Trust measures the fair value of its investment
based on the net asset values as reported by the underlying fund's administrator andfor
manager.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally
the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Series
Trust determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and
the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability nor based on a valuation technique that used only data from observable markets,
the finandal instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the fransaction price. Subsequently, that
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the
instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market
data or the transaction is closed out.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
the management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of
the reporting year applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where
other pricing medels are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting
year,

The Series Trust recognises ransfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting year in which the change has occurred,
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(V) Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assefs measured at
amorised cost,

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. except for
the fallowing, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- ofher finandal assets for which credit risk (ie. the risk of default cceurming over the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When detemmining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when esfimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable
and supportable infformation that is relevant and available without undue cost or efiort. This
indudes both quantitative and gualitative information and analysis, based on the Series
Trust's historical experence and informed credit assessment and induding forward-looking
information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 20 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the bomower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held) or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definiion of ‘investment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa2 or higher per Moody's or BEB- or higher per Standard
& Poor's,

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument,

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 menths after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum confractual period
over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk,
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Measurement of ECLS
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of &l cash shorifalls {i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to
receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assels
At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camed at
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assel have occumed.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the bommower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other finandial reorganisation,
FPrasentation of allcwanece for ECLS in the stalement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amorfised cost are deducted from the
gross camying amount of the assets.

Wiite-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reascnable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

(v} Derecognilion
The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assels are fransferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial assat.

The Seres Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(vi} Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding who contrels the entity, such as when any veting rights relate
to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of confractual
arangements.

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes:
- Resiricted activities;

- A narow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment opporunities for
investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured
entity to investors,

- Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without
subordinated financial support. and

- Financing in the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit or other risks (tranches).

Management has determined that the Seres Trust's investment in the Investment Fund (see
note 10{a)) is an investment in an unconsolidated structured entity and is classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 4). The Investment Fund's
investment objective is to maximise total investment return consisting of a combination of
interest income, capital appreciation and cumency gains. The Investment Fund is managed
by an unrelated asset manager and applies varous investment strategies to accomplish its
investment objectives.

The Investment Fund invests principally in a portfolio of fixed or floating debt secunities and
debt cbligations issued by government of govemment-related issuers worldwide, The
Investment Fund can invest to a lesser extent in debt securities of any quality issued by
corporations located in any country and debt securities of supranational enfiies. The
Investment Fund can use derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used
as an active investment management instrument to gain exposure fo markets.

The Investment Fund finances its operations by issuing redeemable shares which are
puttable at holder's option on any Luxembourg business day, and entiies the holder to a
proporticnal stake in the Investment Fund's net assets, The Series Trust holds redeemable
shares in the Investment Fund and is not sponsoring the Investment Fund, As at 30 June
2023, the Series Trust held 0.10% (2022 0.12%) of the net assets of the Investment Fund.
The Series Trust invests solely in the Investment Fund's Class | {acc) USD share.

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investment Fund are subject to the terms and condition of
the respective offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about fulure values of the Investment Fund. The Manager makes investment
decision after extensive due diligence of the Investment Fund induding consideration of its
strategy and the overall guality of the Investment Fund's manager.

The change in fair value of the Investment Fund is included in the statement of
comprehensive income under “Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss™.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
ivii} Ofisetting

Financial assets and financial liabiliies are offset and the nel amount presented In the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to
offset the amounts and it intends to either setfle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultansously.

(A Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents compnse deposits with banks. Cash eguivalents are shorf-temm.
highty liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.
{g) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the orginal effective
interest rate of the instruments calculated at the acquisifion or origination date, Interest
income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other
differences between the initial carming amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of orgin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

() Netgain or loss on fnancial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Met gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all

realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excudes
interest income.

(il Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognisad in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

(il Income tax
Cayman lsfands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman |slands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years
from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no prowvision for income taxes is
included in these financial statements.
Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Redemption of units by unitholders

Unitholders may redeem units on any day on which commercial banks are open for business
in each of Hong Kong, Luxembourg, New York and Tokyo, andfor any other day or days
designated in writing by the Manager from time to time (the "“Repurchase Day"). Units will be
redeemed at the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is
calculated by reference to the net asset value of the Series Trust as at the applicable

Repurchase Day.
Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puftable financial instrument that includes a confractual cobligation for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as
equity if it meets all of the following conditions:

{i} it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Senes Trust's net assets in the event of
the Senes Trust's liquidation:

(i) itis inthe class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

(ili) all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other
classes of instruments have identical features;

{iv) apart from the contractual cbligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not indude any
other features that would require classification as a liability; and

(v} the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets o the
change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Senes
Trust over the life of the instrument.

The redeemable units of the Series Trust are dassified as financial liabilities and are
measured at the present value of the redemption amounts,

The Series Trust has three classes of redeemable units in issue: AUD Hedged. EUR Hedged
and USD classes that are the most subordinate classes of finandal instruments and rank pan
passu in all material respects and have the same terms and conditions other than that the
different classes of unils are denominated in different currencies (the “Reference
Currencies™).The redeemable units provide the unitholders with the right to require
redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the unitholders’ share in the net assets of the
applicable class of units of the Series Trust at the redemption date, and also in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

{m) Refated parties

(a)

(o)

A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Series Trust if that
person;

i)
{ii}
(i}

has control or joint control over the Series Trust,
has significant influence over the Series Trust, or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.

An enfity is related to the Seres Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

{i)

iy

(i

(iv)

(v

(Vi)

{vii)

(i}

The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

Cne entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Seres Trust of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Series Trust or an entity related to the Seres Trust.

The entity is controlled or jaintly controfled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part. provides key
management personnel services to the Seres Trust or to the Series Trust's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members whe may be expected 10
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust,

3 Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

Current deposits with a bank 5 41,845 5 43,880

Cash held by the Series Trustis deposited with Citibank M_A. Hong Kong Branch.
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Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Mon-denvative financial instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended investment in Templeton
Global Bond Fund 5 3642063 $ 4663349

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward confracts &4 -

$ 3642147 3 4653349

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign cumency forward confracts 3 (23488) 5 (15,954)

Amounts due from brokers

As at 30 June 2023, the balance represents the amounts receivable from the brokers for
unsetled sales of $20,000 (2022; $50,000) and is expected to be seftled within one month,

Subscription receivable

The balances represent amaounts receivable from unitholders for subscribed units but not yet
settled as at the reporting date. These balances are expected to be setiled within one
monti.

Redemption payable

The balance represents the amounts payable to the unitholders for redeemed units and s
expected {0 be settled within one month,

Interest income
2023 2022

Interest income on bank balances & 3 b 3
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Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022
Mon-derivafive finandal instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended investment in Templeton
Global Bond Fund 5 8,714 S (445 404)
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracls (56,927 (193,912)
3 (48,213) 5 (639,316)
Representing:
Met realised loss § (M5723) %  (175824)
Met unrealised gainfloss) 67,5910 (463,492

5 (48213) %  (639.316)

Financial instruments and associated risks

The Senes Trust's investing activiies expose it to vanous types of finandal risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-
fund structure, risks of the underlying fund and risks of the Senes Trust which include market
risk, credit nsk and liquidity risk. Market risk incudes interest rate risk, currency risk and
price risk,

The nature and extent of the finandal instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed
by the Senes Trust are discussed below,

Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the investment objective of the Sernes Trust is fo maximise total
investment retum consisting of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and
currency gains. The Seres Trust seeks to achieve this investment objective through mainly
investing in the Investment Fund,

The Investment Fund is an unlisted open-ended fund. It is a sub-fund of Franklin Templeton
Investment Funds, a company incorporated in Luxembourg under the laws of the Grand
Duchy of Luxembourg as a société anonyme and qualifying as a socieété dinvestissement a
capital variable. Franklin Templeton Investment Funds gqualifies as an Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities,

The Investment Fund is managed by Franklin Advisers, Inc. (the “Investment Fund
Manager'). who provides day-to-day management in respect of the investment and re-

investment of the net assets of the Investment Fund. The Investment Fund Manager
receives investment management fee from the Investrment Fund.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The Investment Fund's investment cbjective is to maximise total invesiment refum consisting
of a combination of interest income, capital appreciation and cumency gains. It seeks to
achieve its objective by investing principally in a portfolio of fixed and floating rate debt
securities {including non-investment grade securities) and debt obligations issued by
govemment or government-related issuers werldwide.

The Investment Fund uses dervatives for hedging and invesiment purposes which are used
as an active investment management instrument fo gain exposure to markets. The
Investment Fund's functional cummency is USD,

The Manager of the Series Trust also systematically hedges the foreign currency exposure of
the AUD Hedged units and EUR Hedged units of the Series Trust between their Reference
Currencies (i.e.. AUD for AUD Hedged units and EUR for EUR Hedged units. hereinafter the
same) and the functional currency of the Series Trust by entering into foreign cumency
forward contracts of maturities of around one month (the “"Currency Hedging Transactions”).

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assets is retained as cash, taking into consideration
the day-to-day cash needs of the Series Trust as they arise,

{b) Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Series Trust invests substantially all of its proceeds from the issuance of units into the
Investment Fund and operates in a fund-of-fund structure.

The fund-of-fund structure gives rise to a unique risk that multiple paries invest in the
Investment Fund alongside the Series Trust, whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment retums. Should a major investor withdraw from the Investment Fund, the
investors that remain may take up a greater proportion of the operaling expenses.
Furthermore, a substantial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time period
could necessitate the liquidation of securty positions at a ime and in a manner which does
not provide the most economic advantage to the Investment Fund, and which can adversely
affect the value of the Investment Fund's asseats.

The Series Trust achieves its investment objective through its investment in the Investment
Fund. Whether the investment objective can be achieved depends on the performance of
the Investment Fund's financial instruments and the continuing availability of the Investrment
Fund, as well as the business continuity of the Investment Fund Manager.

The Series Trust is under a fund-of-fund structure and has not been established as a tracker
fund. The performance of the Senes Trust can differ from that of the Investment Fund.

{¢) Risks of the Investment Fund
Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trust has an indirect exposure to the risks of the
Investment Fund and loss incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Series
Trust's financial position. The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to the key rdsks of the

Investrment Fund. The key risks of the Investment Fund are subject to the risk management
policy and processes of the Invesiment Fund Manager.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

(i} Credit risk of the Investment Fund

The following assets of the Investment Fund were exposed to credit risk: debt investments,
derivative financial assets. cash and cash equivalents and other receivables,

As reported by the Investment Fund, the Investment Fund Manager has adopted procedures
to reduce credit risk related to its dealings with counterparties or issuers in the Investment
Fund. Before fransacting, independent analysis will be conducted to evaluate the
counterparties’ or issuers ability to repay its debt obligation. The credit risk of approved
counterparties or issuers is then monitored on an engoing basis, incuding periodic reviews of
financial statements and interim financial reports as neaded.

(i} Currency risk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Investment
Fund's funclional currency and curmency in which its financial instruments are denominated,

As reported by the Investment Fund, the Investment Fund may be exposed o cumency risk
as the value of assets and liabilites denominated in other currencies ofher than the function
currency may fluctuate as a result of movements in the exchange rates. The Investment
Fund may use instruments such as currency forwards, cross cumency forwards and currency
futures confracts to hedge currency exposure, which can limit the potential for currency
gains, or to take a currency position for investment purposaes. which can result in substantial
loss to the Investment Fund.

(i} Ligquidity risk of the Investment Fund

Liguidity risk arises when the Investment Fund Manager is not able to generate sufficient
cash to seftle its obligations as they fall due.

In general, the Series Trust's invesiment in Class | {acc) USD shares of the Investiment Fund
can be redeemed on any business day, and settled within three business days. For
redemption requests that exceed 10% of the net asset value of the Investment Fund, the
Board of Directors of the Investment Fund may declare that the redemption of part of all of
such shares will be deferred by a business day and will be valued at the relevant net asset
value per share determined on the valuation day on which the shares are redesmed.

The Investment Fund Manager may also impose temporary suspension of valuation of net
assel value and also redemptions.  Triggers for such suspension may be, but not limited to,
cose of a market that is significant to the Investment Fund's investment activities, periods
where disposal, or valuation of investments which constifute a substanfial portion of the
assets of the Investment Fund is not practically feasible or is only possible on terms that
would be materially disadvantageous to the Investment Fund's investors.

As reported by the Investment Fund's annual audited finandal statements, the Investment
Fund invests in government and municipal bonds, including those issued by emerging
economies. In addition, 0.00% (2022 2.23%) of the Investment Fund's fixed income
positions are considered as “distressed securities.”. “Cistressed securities” are defined by
the Investment Fund to include defaulted securities, fixed income securities rated CCC or
below by at least two ratings agencies, and unrated securiies with credit spread above
1,000bps. The Manager concludes that liquidity risk of its investment in the Investment Fund
is immaterial,
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)
(ivl Interest rate risk of the Investment Fund

Interest rate risk arses from the effects of fluctuations in prevailing market inferest rates on
which the fair value of the Investment Fund's finandal instruments and future cash flows are
based. Inthe case of many credit instruments that may be acquired by the Investment Fund,
the likelihood of default on the instruments increases as interest rates rise.

iv) Derivative risk of the Investment Fund

Derivative nsk arses from dervative contracts undertaken by the Investment Fund for
hedging and investment purposes. Derivative contracts are high leverage investments and
their value is determined by fluctuation in the underlying assets, Dervative contracts add to
the liquidity, credit and counterparty rfisk of the Investment Fund.

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, the outstanding derivative contracts undertaken by
the Investment Fund included foreign cumency forwards contracts and cumency option
contracts, The Series Trust's maximum exposure to its investment in the Investment Fund is
the fair value of its investment in the Investment Fund, The Manager concludes that
derivative risk of its investment in the Investment Fund is immaterial.

(d) Market risk of the Series Trust

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices,

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk anses from the possibility that changes in inferest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financlal instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss 1o the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an on-going
basis by the Manager., Except for bank deposits, all the financial assets and liabilities of the
Series Trust are non-interest bearing. The Series Trust's direct exposure o interest rate risk
is considered by the Manager to be minimal,

(i} Currency risk
The Series Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated
in cumencies other than its funclional cumency. Consequently, the Series Trust is exposed to
risks that the exchange rate of its functional cumency relative to other foreign curmencies may

change in @ manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that porion of the Series
Trust's financial assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than the USD.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

The fiuctuations in the rate of exchange between the currency in which the asset or liability is
denominated and functional cumrency could result in an appreciation or depreciafion in the
fair value of that asset or liability. Cumency exposures between the Reference Cumendies
and the functional currency of the Series Trust are present for the AUD Hedged and EUR
Hedged classes. Currency Hedging Transactions are entered into by the Manager according
to a hedge ratio with certain residual risks. Furthermore, as a result of the Currency Hedging
Transactions, an appreciation in a Reference Currency against the functional currency does
not lead to a comesponding increase in the net asset value per unit of the hedged classes.

Currency sensitivity

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, had the USD weakened by 5% (2022: 5%) in relation
to the respective cumencies, with all other varables held constant, the fair value of the
foreign cumency forward contract would have increased by the amounts shown below.

Changes in fair Changes in fair

vailue of the vaiue of the

foreign foreign

cumency currency

forward farward

Notional  contract if USD Notional  contract if USD

amount at weakened amount af weatenad

(Expressed in LS0) 30 June 2023 by 5% 30 June 2022 by 5%
Australian Dollar k= 99979 § 49999 3 1202805 5 60,140
Eurg 216,929 15,846 33T 738 16.887
Total § 1.216908 % 65845 5 1540543 % 02T

A B% (2022 5%) strengthening of the USD against the above currences would have
resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts shown above, on
the basis that all other variables remain constant,

{iiiy  Price risk

Price nsk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its
issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market,

FPrice sansifivity

The assets of the Series Trust are substantially invested in the Investment Fund and
therefore are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund. It is estimated that a 5%
(2022, 5%) decrease in the net asset value of the Investment Fund would result in a
decrease in the net assets atinbutable to the unitholders and the total comprehensive income
for the year by $182,103 (2022 5233.167), an equal change in the opposite direction would
result in an increass in the net assets attributable to unitholders by an equal amount.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

(&) Credit isk of the Series Trust

Credit risk is the rsk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail o discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Seres Trusts
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongeing basis.

Armounts arsing from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from brokers has been
measured on a 1Z2month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the
exposures. The Series Trust considers that these exposures have low credit risk based on
the extemal credit ratings of the counterparties,

The Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as the counterparties
have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. There is no
impaiment allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from brokers
and subscription receivable,

The Series Trust is exposed to credit nsk with respect to the Custedian taking custody of the
Series Trust's cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from brokers balances.

Credit risk ansing from transactions with brokers relates to transactions awaiting settlement.
Risk refating to unsettied transactions is considered small due to the short settlement penod
involved and the high credit quality of the brokers used.

All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank M.A. Hong Kong Branch (the
“Bank"), which is also the Administrator and the Custodian. The credit rating of Citibank M.A.,
Hong Kong Branch, the Administrator and the Custodian, is “A+" (2022: A+) as raied by
Standard & Poor's, The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., the counterparty
of foreign cumency forward contracts, is "A+" (2022 A+) as rated by Standard & Poor's. The
credit risk is considered insignificant.

Offsetting of financial assefs and financial Nabililies

The disclosure set out in the fables below includes financial assets and financial liabilities
that:

- are offset in the statement of financial position; or

- are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement, imespective of whether they
are offset in the statement of financial position,

The master nefting amangements do meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of
financdial position. The Series Trust and its counterparty do intend to settle on a net basis or
to realise the assets and settle the liabiliies simultaneously.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

Financial iabiliies subject to enforceable master nefling arrangements

G Related amourds that are
ross ﬂ ot effset i the statement
amourts of st sl
firmancial
instrument s Financial
infhe  instruments Cash

statement {imeiudling colfateral
of finansia! nan-cash  recenwved of
pasdion collateral) pedged  Nel arrount

As at 30 June 2023
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Dervvative Bnancial instruments
- Forelgn currency forward contracts 5 B4 -3 B4y 5 = 3 -

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
Ioss

Derivative Bnancial instrumants
= Foreign curnency forward contracts 5(23488) 3 B4 - iy 3 (23,404)

§(23488 § B4 4 - 5 {23404)

Financial labilites subject to enforceable masler netling arrangements

Grossand  Related emounts that are
et nof offset in the stalerment
amourts of of finansial postion

financial
imstrurments Financial
inthe instrumemts Cash

stadement (including colateral
of financial non-cash  recened ar
postion callateral) pledged  Nel armount
A= at 30 June 2022

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Dervative Bnancial instruments
- Foreign curmency forward contracts 3 - 3 - 5 - 5 -
B3 = 5 = 3 = 5 -
Financial Habllities at falr value through profit or
loss
Derivative fnancial instruments
- Fereign curmency forward contracts 5 (15954 § = 3 = 5 (15,954)
51595 3 - 3 - 5 (15.954)
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Liguidity risk of the Series Trust

Liguidity risk arises from the nsk that the Series Trust may not be able to redeem its
investments in the Investment Fund in cash, and or to make such redemptions in a timely
manner in order to meet the Series Trust's obligations. As unitholders may redeem units on
any Repurchase Day as defined in note 2(k), the Series Trust is exposed to liquidity risk of
meeting its redemption obligations. The Senes Trust is subject to liquidity risk on the ability
of the Investment Fund to meet its redemption obligation. The Series Trust is exposed to
liquidity risk on redemption of units by the unitholders on the redemption date.

A substantial amount of the Series Trust's assets are invested in the Investment Fund, which
is an open ended fund, The Senes Trust's investment may be subject to redemption
restrictions. Refer to note 10(cHiii) for discussion of the liquidity risk associated with the
Investment Fund,

Analysis of ability by remaining maturty

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022

2023
Over Cver
Wit i 1 month to 3 months
1 month 3 months fo 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other payables s 111,853 § 2493 § - 8§ 114,346
Redemption payable 57,370 - - 57,370
Met assets aliributable to the
unithclders (note) 3,523,829 - - 352382
Total $ 3893052 5 2483 3§ - % 3595545
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilties at fair value
through profit or loss 5 23485 5 - 5 - 3 23,488

|
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

2022
Owver Over
Wit hin 1 movdth ta 3 mordhs
1 month 3 months fo 1 year Total
Non-trading liabilities
Accruals and other payables $ 105478 § 2483 § - 8 107,872
Redemption payable 44,601 = = 44,601
Met assets altributable to the
unitholders (note) 4588712 2 = 4585712
Total $ 4738782 5 2493 § - 5 4741285
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilties at fair value
through profit or loss $ 15854 5 - % - & 15,954

Mote: The liquidity profile of the net assets afiributable to the unitholders is subject to the
liquidity terms of the Series Trust as outlined in the relevant sections of the Offering
Memorandum.

{g) Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carmed at fair value
The following table presents the fair value of the Seres Trust's financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of tha inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted gquoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabiliies at the measurement date

- Level 2 valuations. Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Uneobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

MNon-dervative financial
insirum ents:
- Unlisted open-ended invesiment
in Templeton Global Bond
Fund 5 - $ 38420683 $ - 5§ 3542063

Demvative financial instruments:
= Foreign exchange forward
contracts - B4 - 84

5 - % 3842147 5 S 3842147

Financial liabilities at fair values
through profit or loss

Dervative financial instruments:
- Fareign currency forward
confracts - (23 488) - (23 4588)

] - 3 (23488) 3 §  (23.488)

2022
Leval 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

MNon-derivative financial
instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended imvesiment
in Templeton Global Bond
Fund 5 - % 4853340 § - 5 4863340

] - § 4683348 35 = 5 4563349

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward
contracts = {15,854) = (15,954

] - § (15854) 3 - §  (15954)

During the year ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, there were no fransfers among
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)
(ii)  Financial instruments carmed at other than fair value
The finandal instruments not measured at FVTPL include:

i. cash and cash equivalents, amount due from brokers. subscription receivable, redemption
payable and accruals and other payables. These are shor-term financial assets and
financial liabilities whoss camying amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-
term nature and the high credit quality of counterparties; and

ii. net assets attributable to the unitholders. The Series Trust routinely redeems and issues
the redeemable units at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the
Series Trust at the ime of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in
these financial statements. Accordingly, the camying amount of net assets atiributable to the
unitholders approximates their fair value. The units are categorised into Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.

(i} Foreign currency forward confracts

The foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding as follows as at 30 June 2023 and
2022

2023

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Curency Currency Currency Currency
bought amourdt bought soid amount sold  Seltlement date Fair value
usD 265,258 EUR 24,000 3 July 2023 5 a4
5 B4
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Curancy Currency Currevicy Currancy
bought amourd bought sold amount sold  Seftlement date Fair vaiue
ALD 1,506,681 usD 1,021,624 3 July 2023 § (21,645)
EUR 244,555 usD 2634860 31 July 2023 (1,752)
EUR 24,000 ush 26,228 3 July 2022 1)
& (23.488)
34
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10 Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)
2022

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Currency Currency Currency

bougft amount bought sold amount soid  Sefttement date Fair value
ELUR 321,897 usD 41,741 20 July 2022 § (4,003)
AUD 1,748,552 usoD 1,214,756 20 July 2022 {11,951)

5 (15,854)

Foreign cumency forward contracts are commitments either to purchase or sell a designated
currency at a specified future date for a specified price and settled in cash. The confracts are
customised over-the-counter. These confracts were entered into to hedge foreign cumency
exposure of the Series Trust,

Foreign currency forward contracts resull in exposure to market risk based on changes in
market prices relative to confracted amounts. Market risks arise due to the possible
movement in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, because of the low margin
deposits normally required in relation to notional contract sizes, a high degree of leverage
may be typical of a forward trading account. As a resull, a relatively small price movement in
an underlying of a forward confract may resultin substantial losses to the Seres Trust.

Moticnal amounts are the underlying reference amounts to foreign cumrencies upon which the
fair value of the forward contracts fraded by the Series Trust are based. While notional
amounts do not represent the eurrent fair value and are not necessarily indicative of the
future cash flows of the Series Trust's foreign currency forward contracts. the underlying
price changes in refation to the variables specified by the notional amounts affect the fair
value of these dervative financial instruments.

The Series Trust transacts in foreign cumency forward confracts for the account of holders of
the ALUD Hedged and EUR Hedged classes of units, in principle, by selling USD and
purchasing the Reference Curmencies. As a result of the Currency Hedging Transactions, an
appreciation in AUD or EUR against the USD as applicable will not lead to a coresponding
increase in the net asset value per unit of the AUD Hedged or EUR Hedged dasses of units.
All gains and losses arising from these transactions are to the account of the respective AUD
Hedged and EUR Hedged dasses of units.

The counterparty of these confracts is a fellow subsidiary of the Manager, which is a
reputable finandial institution, hence the risk of default is considerad low,
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11  Net assets attributable to the unitholders

(a) Units issued and redeemed

Number of s
2023
ALUD EUR UsD
Hedged class Hedged class class
At 1 July 2022 212,87 45,154 374,943
Subseription of units
during the year . 1,308 7.542
Redemption of units
during the year (18.385) (13,602) {92,123)
At 30 June 2023 194,475 J2.880 200,362
Nurmbar of unls
2022
AUD EUR UsD
Hadged class Hedged class ciass
At 1 July 2021 264 567 52,532 524,709
Subscription of units
during the year 18,524 ars 3,227
Redemption of units
during the year (70,2200 {8,256) (152,983)
At 30 June 2022 212,87 45,154 374,943

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, all units issued by the Seres Trust were classified as
financial liabilities. The only unitholder of the Series Trust is SMBC Trust Bank Ltd. The
unitholder is the Distributor.

The initial offering of all three dasses of units were priced at a unit price of 10 currency unit
of their respective Reference Cumency. Units may be redeemed on the redemption date and
also in the event of the Seres Trust's liquidation at the net asset value per unit of the
applicable class of units on the relevant redemption date with no redemption charge.

In meetings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed, individual unitholder present in
person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every unit of which he is the holder.

The Trust and the Seres Trust do not have any extemally imposed capital requirements. As
at 30 June 2023, the Series Trust had net assets attnbutable to the unitholders of $3 523 829
(2022; 54,588,712). The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received from the issue of
units in investments that meet the Series Trust's investment objective while maintaining
sufficient liquidity to meet the funding needs when the unitholders redeems its units.

The unitholders of the Series Trust cannot switch its units into units of any other series frust
of the Trust.

The Series Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions for the year ended 30
June 2023 and 30 June 2022,
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11 Net assets attributable to the unitholders (continued)

(B  Reconciliation of net assets

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memorandum, the net assets of the Series
Trust are computed using the pre-detemined cut-off time for all fransactions. Transactions
after the offering memerandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the
HKFRSs requirements, these fransactions are recorded on the same day to comply with
recognition and derecoegnition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a
timing difference between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering
memorandum net assets and units issued.

A recondliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2022
AUD EUR
Hedgad Headgad UsD
Clazs class class Total
Net assets attributable to the
unitholders for valuation
purposes § 1184003 35 335808 5 3080916 § 4600725
Adjustment for timing difference - - {12.016) {12.018)
Met assets altributable to the
unitholders as reported in the
financial slatements $ 1184003 % 335800 5 3088000 S5 4588712

As at 30 June 2023, there were no timing differences between net assets reported under
HKFRSs and the offering memaorandum,

A reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposes and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2022
AUD EUR UsD
Hadged class Hedged class ciazs
Units issued for valuation purpose 212.8T 45,154 376411
Adjustment for timing difference - - (1,468)
Units issued as reported in the
financial statements 212,87 45,154 374,943

As at 20 June 2023, there were no iming differences between units issued reported under
HKFRSs and the offering memaorandum.

37
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12 Related parties
(a) Relfated parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of senvices provided to the Series
Trust are as follows:

Management fee: The Manager is entitted 10 a management fee of 0.16% per annum
of the net asset value of the Series Trust. The fee is accrued daily
and payable monthly in ammears.

Trustee fee: The Trustee charges a fee of USD10,000 per annum. The fee is

accrued daily and payable quarterly in arears.

Administrater, ransfer  Citibank M.A.. acting through its Hong Kong branch, will be entitied
agent and custodian 1o receive out of the trust fund of the Series Trust, administration,

fee: transfer agency and custodian fees of 0.08% per annum of the net
asset value calculated and accrued daily and payable menthly in

arrears.
Agent company fee: The agent company charges a fee of 0.01% per annum of the net

asset value of the Seres Trust. The fee is accrued daily and
payable monthly in amears.

Financial statements The Administrator is entitled to a financial statements preparation
preparation fee: fee of USDS,000 per annum.

Professional fee: The Trustee charges an AML fee of 34,500 per annum,

The following summarises the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

2023 2022

Expenses Fayables Expenses FPayables

Management fee 3 6202 3 477 % 8628 3 637

Trustes fee 1,318 2,483 10.716 2,493
Administrator, transfer agent and

custodian fees 2325 5,138 3,611 5,088

Agent company fee 388 30 602 40

Financial statements preparation fes 8,011 8,080 8,011 12,087

Professional fee 4,510 2,258 4,500 1,122

The Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Administrator in the ordinary course of
their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents, and investment balance is disclosed in notes 3 and 4 respectively. During the
year ended 30 June 2023, the inferest income eamed from the bank balances maintained
with the Administrater amounted to USD3 (2022 USD3)

The counterparty to the foreign cumency forward confracts is a fellow subsidiary of the

Manager. |nformation relating to the foreign currency forward contracts is disclosed in note
10(g)iii).
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12 Related parties (continued)
(B)  Other key contracts
(i) Distributor

The Cistributor charges a fee of 0.75% per annum of the net asset value of the Senes Trust
per unit for each unit that the Distributer is the registered holder. The fee is accrued daily
and payable monthly in amears. During the year ended 30 June 2023 distibutor fee
incurred amounted to USD29,072 (20220 USD45,128). As at 30 June 2023, USDZ2235
(2022 U502 984) of the distibutor fee remained payable.

{ii} Service provider fee

The service provider is entitled to receive a fee of 0.08% per annum of the per unit net asset
value of the Series Trust for each unit that SMBC Trust Bank Limited is the registered holder
in its capacity as a distributor, or distributors in Japan as may be appointed by the Manager
from time to time. The fee is calculated and accrued daily and payable monthly in amears.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, senvice provider fee incurmed amounted to USD3,101
(2022, USD4.815). Asat 30 June 2023, USD251 (2022 USD331) of the service provider fee
remained payable.

13 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as described in note 2(e)(iii).
Fair value estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be
determined with precision. Mevertheless, fair values can be reliably defermined within a
reascnable range of estimates.

14 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 20 June 2023
and which have not been adopted in these financial statements, These include the following
which may be relevant to the Series Trust,

Effective for

accounting periods

beginming on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Cument or 1 January 2023

MNon-cument

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, 1 January 2023
Disclasure of accounting poficies

Amendments to HKAS &, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
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14 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

15

not yet effective for the year ended 20 June 2023 (continued)

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position.

Subsequent events

In preparing these financial statements, the Seres Trust has evaluated and concluded that
other than the matiters listed in the follow paragraph, there are no subsequent events
required to be disclosed up to the date of the auditors’ repor, which is the date that the
financial statements are available to be issued.

Wiith effect from 23 August 2023, Song Li resigned as a director of the Manager, also with
effect from 23 August 2023, Wei Guo was appointed as a director of the Manager.

With effect from 20 MNovernber 2023, Cyrille Troublalewitch resigned as a director of the
Manager, also with effect from 20 Movember 2023, Liens! Claude Pascal Franjou was

appointed as a director of the Manager,

40
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Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
(Expressed in Unied States dollars)

2023 2022

Total net asset value (calculated in accordance with

the Offering Memorandum ) § 3523829 $ 4600728
Met asset value per unit {calculated in accordance with

Offering Memorandum)

- AUD Hedged class AUD 7.647 AUD  8.088

- EUR Hedged class EUR 6862 EUR  7.087

- UsD dass usD 7.819 UsD 8185
Price record | calculated in accordance with Offering

Memorandum)
- Highest unit net asset value during the year

- AUD Hedged class AUD 8.247 AUD 9157

- EUR Hedged class EUR 7.187 EUR  8.081

-UsD dass UsD 8445 ust 9185
- Lowest unit net asset value during the year

- AUD Hedged class ALD 7325 AUD 8.088

- EUR Hedged class EUR 6413 EUR  7.097

- USD dass usD 7.448 usb 8185
Met investment refum during the year

- AUD Hedged class -5.45% =11.86%

- EUR Hedged class -6.13% -12.14%

- UsD dass -3.25% -10.87%

The net investment retums for 2023 and 2022 were caloulated by reference 1o the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering
Memorandum) of the Series Trust at year end date and year beginning date price, divided by
the year beginning date price to cbiain the return in percentage.

41
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2023 10
( ) ( )

3,095,355.17 462,786,551
111,069.12 16,605,944
2,984,286.05 446,180,607

266,733.457

194,315.784

26,423.525
7.298 1,001
6.996 666
6.103 968
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2022 12 31
2022 12 31
( )
2022 2022 2021 2021
58,037,164 1,109,670,576 81,829,082 1,564,572,048
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
() 1,125,854 21,526,328 (161,332) (3,084,668)
59,166,957 1,131,272,218 81,671,223 1,561,553,784
(37,143,151) (710,177,047) (61,875,944)  (1,183,068,049)
22,023,806 421,095,171 19,795,279 378,485,734
@) (3,443,700) (65,843,544) (3,286,113) (62,830,481)
18,580,106 355,251,627 16,509,166 315,655,254
11 30 ( )

13
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2022 12 31
2022 12 31
( )
2022 2022 2021 2021
C) 13,149 251,409 15,021 287,202
3,985,588 76,204,443 6,373,203 121,855,641
79,042,876 1,511,299,789 309,193,039  5,911,770,906
83,028,464 1,587,504,232 315,566,242  6,033,626,547
11,998,401 229,409,427 28,471,600 544,376,992
© 149,368 2,855,916 647,429 12,378,842
12,147,769 232,265,343 29,119,029 556,755,834
70,880,695 1,355,238,888 286,447,213 5,476,870,713
70,893,844 1,355,490,297 286,462,234  5,477,157,914
) 2,000,200 38,243,824 2,000,200 38,243,824
68,893,644 1,317,246,473 284,462,034 5,438,914,090
70,893,844 1,355,490,297 286,462,234 5,477,157,914
2023 20
)
)
)
)
)
11 30 ( )

155/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 12 31
2022 12 31
( )
2021 2,000,200 267,952,868 269,953,068
16,509,166 16,509,166
2021 12 31 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234
2022 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234
18,580,106 18,580,106
13 (234,148,496) (234,148,496)
2022 12 31 2,000,200 68,893,644 70,893,844
2021 38,243,824 5,123,258,836 5,161,502, 660
315,655,254 315,655,254
2021 12 31 38,243,824 5,438,914,090 5,477,157,914
2022 38,243,824 5,438,914,090 5,477,157,914
355,251,627 355,251,627
13 (4,476,919,244) (4,476,919, 244)
2022 12 31 38,243,824 1,317,246,473 1,355,490, 297
11 30
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2022 12 31
2022 2022 2021 2021
22,023,806 421,095,171 19,795,279 378,485,734
(3,939) (75,314) (3,473) (66,404)
22,019,867 421,019,857 19,791,806 378,419,331
2,387,615 45,651,199 2,122 40,573
(16,473,199) (314,967,565) 9,884,391 188,989,556
7,934,283 151,703,491 29,678,319 567,449,459
(3,939,889) (75,330,678) (2,013,442) (38,497,011)
3,994,394 76,372,813 27,664,877 528,952,448
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
(234,148,496)  (4,476,919,244)
(234,148,496)  (4,476,919,244)
(230,150,163)  (4,400,471,117) 27,668,350 529,018,852
309,193,039 5,911,770,906 281,524,689 5,382,752,054
79,042,876 1,511,299,789 309,193,039 5,911,770,906
)
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2022 2021
58,037,164 81,829,082

2022 2021
11,525,187 25,849,811
19,703,288 23,385,076
4,154,685 10,511,444
503,043 475,086
630,894 697,584
626,054 956,943

2022 2021
(3,813) (6,155)
3,445,641 3,290,087
3,441,828 3,283,932
1,872 2,181
3,443,700 3,286,113

16.5 (2021 16.5 )
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2022 2021
22,023,806 19,795,279
3,633,928 3,266,221
(186,415) 26,047
(3,813) (6,155)
3,443,700 3,286,113
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©
2022 2021

647,429 (623,061)
(3,939,889) (2,013,442)
(3,813) (6,155)
[©) 3,445,641 3,290,087
149,368 647,429

(@
2021 17,202 17,202
(2,181) (2,181)
2021 12 31 15,021 15,021
2022 15,021 15,021
(1,872) (1,872)
2022 12 31 13,149 13,149

2022 12 31
(2021 )
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383 (1) ( )
2022 2021
8,278,000 7,778,000
3,512,997 9,857,857
3,992,035 2,431,474
860,700 808,200
16,643,732 20,875,531
2022 2021
79,042,876 309,193,039
2022 2021
3,607,843 5,018,058
186,649 1,239,606
191,096 115,539
3,985,588 6,373,203
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2022 2021
1,612,852 2,719,835
9,898,636 25,283,479
486,913 468,286
11,998,401 28,471,600
@
2022 2021
12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200
135
()
2022 12 31
70,893,844 (2021 286,462,234 )
( ) (

) 100,000
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2022 2021
) 58,037,164 81,829,082
() (19,703,288) (23,385,076)
( 19 )
( 20 )
( 25 )
( 27 )
28 )
31 )
1703( 32 ) (2022 30
( 33 )(2022 17 )
1710( 34 )(2022 30
( 36 )
( 37 )
1802( 38 )(2022 12 30 )
( 39
1809( 40 )
( 4
1903( 42 )
( 10 )(
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( 45 )
( 46 )
( 47 )
( 48
49 )
50 )
( 52 (2022 21
2203( 55 (2022
( 54 )
( 53 (2022
2012(  )(
( )
55
53

19 20 25 27 28 31 32 33 34 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44

45 46 47 48 49 50 52 53 54 55

0.01

() 19 39 45

23,385,076 )

()

31

©

70 55 55 55
2022 12 31 19 39 45 48
19,703,288 (2021
2022 12
11,525,187 (2021 25,849,811 )
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2022 2021

16,643,732 20,875,531

2022
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2022 2021
228 603,092 33,081,601 3,419 952,524 8,172,619
1,821,512 2,191,885 2,617,546 3,768,281

(1,171,231) (10,153,942) (1,473,267) (25,290,774)

228 1,253,373 25,119,544 3,419 2,096,803 (13,349,874)
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2022 2021
( ) « ) ( ) « )
7.91 18 1.87 64
(1.01) (35)
9.40 117,817 0.14 2,936
(0.10) (1,253) (0.85) (17,823)
2021
©
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
12
2022 12 31
2022 12 31
13
2022 2021
1,499.85
021 ) 234,148,496
14 2022 12 31
2022 12 31
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Caigroun Firs! imeesimen! MMenegerment Limied
Financial tiatemant: for She yaar endes 37 Decembar 2022

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note
Revenue 2
Interest incomsa
Foreign exchange gain/{loss)
Other apearating expansas
Profit before taxation 3
Income tax 4(a)

Profit and total comprehensive income far
the year

2022 2021
s 3
58,037,164 81,829 082
3,939 3,473
1,125,854 {161.332)
59 165,957 51,671,223
(37,143,151) (61,875,844)
22,023,806 19,795,279
(3,443,700) (3,286,113)
18,580,106 15,509,165

The notes on pages 171 to 30 form parl of these financial statements. Details of dividends
paid to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out

in note 13.
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Cabguoam Firs! bpeeslman? Managanman? Limdas
Financral slatements for fhe year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2022 2021
5 g
Mon-current assets
Deferred tax assels 4(d) 13,149 15021
Current assets
Accounls receivable and other assals 7 3,985,588 6,373,203
Cash and cash equivalents 5] 79042876 309,193,038
83028 464 315,568,242
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses g 11,998,401 28 471 600
Current taxation 4{c) 148,268 647,429
12,147,769 25,118,028
Net current assets 70880695 285447213
MET ASSETS 70,853 B4 286 462 234
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital a(a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Reserves 68,883 644 284 462,034
TOTAL EQUITY 70,853 644 285.452\23{;

Approved and authonsed for issue by the board of directars on 20 APR 2013

)
=
/ ) ),4:"- } Directors
s ol :-_:

The notes on pages 11 fo 30 form part of these financial statements,
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Cigroup Furst invasimeant Maragemant Limad
Fnancial sintements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2022
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share Retained

Note capital profits Tolal

3 5 3

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,000,200 257,952 BEB 289 953 DE8
Total comprahensive income for

the year - 16,500,166 16,500,166

Balance at 31 December 2021 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234

Balance at 1 January 2022 2,000,200 284 462 034 286 462 234
Total comprehensive income for

the year - 18,580,106 18,580,106

Dividend paid 13 - [234,148,496) (234148 456)

Balance at 31 December 2022 2,000,200 68 893,644 70,893 844

The noles on pages 11 1o 30 form part of these financial statements,

178/249



EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Statement of cash flows

Crgroue Furs! imreztnen! Managemen! Limged

for the year ended 31 December 2022

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit before laxation

Adjustmeant for
Interest ncome

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Decrease in accounts receivable and other
assels

(Decreaselfincrease in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

Cash generated from operating activities

Heng Kong Profits Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Net cash generated from investing activities

Financing activities

Dividends paid to equity shareholder of the
Company

Met cash used in financing activities

Net (decreaselincrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Financlad stafemants for the year engad 31 Decamber 7002

g 79,042 876

The notes an pages 11 to 30 form par of these financal statemeants

10
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Note 2022 2021
2 5

22,023,806 19,795,278
(3,939) (3.473)

22 019,867 19,791 808

2 387,615 2,122
(16,473,199 9,884,391
7,934,283 20678319
(3,939,889) (2,013 442)
3,994,394 27,664,877

3,939 3,473

3,939 3,473

13 (234,148 495) .

SR IIAN, el
(230,150,163) 27,668,350
309,193 039 281 524 688
309,193,039
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Citrgrowg Flrst Inveatiment Management Limted
Fingnciad staraments for tha pear andad 31 Decembar 2072

Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance wilh all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HK.A55") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA®), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requiremeants of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopled by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amandmants to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for eady adoption for the currant accounting period of the Company. Mote 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent thal they are relevant 1o the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods refllacted in these financial stalemeants

Easis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the praparation of the financial stalements is the historical
cost basis.

The Campany has chosen Hong Kong doliars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assels and circumslances relevant to the Company.
Al values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKEFRSs requires management lo
maks judgements. estimates and assumptions thal affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumplions are based on historical experience and various other faclors that are believed 1o
ba reasonable under the circumstances, the resulis of which form the basis of making the
judgements about camying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The esiimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimata is revised if the

revision affects only that penod, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

11
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Ctigraup Frs! fvestiment Managamend Limifed
Fimancial stataments for the year ended 37 December 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2022 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company's financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, damand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liguid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the lrading activities, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

The Company is the principal for ils revenue transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis. In determining whether the Company acts as a principal or as an agenl, it considers
whether it obtains control of the services before they are transferred 1o the customers,
Control refers to the Company's ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the services.

Revenue is recognised when control over service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Company is expected to be enlitled
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit ta the customer for more than 12 menths. revenue is measured al the present valua
of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflactad in a
separate financing transaction wilh the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract Includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. The Company takes advanlage of the practical expedieant in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
compenent if the period of financing is 12 months or less

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

- Investment management fee incame is recognised when the relevant services have been
renderad.

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated fulure cash receipts through the expecled life of the
financial asset lo the gross camying amount of the financial asset.

12
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Cibgroug Frsi invesiment Managemen! Lrmded
Financlaf statarmants for the paar anded 31 Decamber 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation ansing
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
iz material, provisions are stated at the prasent value of the expenditure expected o seftle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimaled reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a conlingenl liability, unless the
probability of cutflow of economic banefils is remote, Possible obligalions, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-cccurrence of one or more fulure events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of cutflow of economic benefits
is remole.

Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and ofher receivables are inifially recognised at fair value and theraafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note
1{k)(v)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made (o related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of dizcounting would be immaterial. In such cases
lhe receivables are stated at invoice amounts less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debis.

Impaimment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there is objective
evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference between the camying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate where the effect of discounting is material,

Objective evidence of impairment includes cbservable data that comes to the attention of the
Company about events thal have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

Transiation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are transiated intc Hong Kong dellars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translatad into Hong Kong dellars at the exchangs

rates ruling at the end of reporting period, Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
gtatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incoms.

13
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Citfgrown Firs! Inraziman! Managamend Limitad
Financél stalerrants for the year ended 37 December 2022

Significant accounting policies {[continued)
Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets. Current
tax and movemenis in deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recegnised in other comprehensive income or
dirzetly in equilty, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current lax is the expecled tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacled or substantively enacled al the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
between the carrying amaunts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assels also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is prabable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the assel can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of defered tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlemant of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting pericd. Deferred tax assets are not
discounted

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements tharain, are prasented
saparately from each other and are not offset  Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilitizs, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if. and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right o =2t off current (ax assels against curment 1ax
liabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

{a} A person, or a close member of thal person's family, is related to the Company if that
parson;

(' has control or joint control over the Company,
(i)  has significant influsnce over the Company; or

filiy iz a member of ihe key management parsonnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

14
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Citigronp Ficat invasimant Masage mant Limiad
Furanmal sulements for the year ended 31 Decembear 2002

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

il  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others)

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a memker).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(W) One entity is a joint venture of a third enlity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment banafit plan for the beneflit of employees of
gilher the Company or an entity ralatad to the Company.

{wi} The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in {a).

{vii) A person identified in (a){i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viiiy The entity. or any member of a group of which it is a parl, provides key
managemeant personnel senvices 1o the Company or to the Company's parent.

Close members of the family of a persen are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which normally will be egual to the
transaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial hability not held at fair valua
threugh profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability.

The Company recognises financial assels and financial liabilities on the date it bacomes a
party to the contractual provisions of tha instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
losses arnsing from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are
recordad.

15
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Ciigrou Flret Invesiment Management Limied
Finprcim statements for ibe poar onded 31 December 2022

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{iiy  Classification and subsaquent measurament

(A

Classification of financial assels

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amorised cost or FVTPL,

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is nol designated as at FVTPL

- itis held within a business madel whose objective is to hold assels to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- itz contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (*SPPI")

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at FWTPL.
Business model agsessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contraciual
interast income. maintaining a parlicular interest rale profile, malching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expecled cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets:

- how the performance of the portfolio s evaluated and reported to the Company's
management:

- Ihe risks that affect the performance of the business mode! (and the financial assets
held within that business model) and how those nsks are managed,

- how the managers of the business are compensated; e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows
collected. and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior pericds, the
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activily

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evalualed on a fair valug basis are maasurad at FWTPL because they are neither hald

to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
sell financial assels.
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Cingroup Fust invesimen! Managemam Limitad
Financial sinternens for the yeer enged 31 Decermber 2622

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(B)

Assossment whelther conlractual cash Tows are SPRI

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal s defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount autstanding
during a pariicular period of time and for cther basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual termn that could ehange the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Company considers:
- contingant events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

leverage fealures;
- prepayment and extension features,

- terms that limil lhe Company's claim to cash flows from specified assels {(e.g. non-
recourse fealuras), and

- f{eatures that modify consideration of the lime value of money (e.g. pericdical reset
of interest rales)

Reclagsifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their inifial recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assels.

Classification of financial assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and recaivables include amounts due from feliow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assets and cash and cash equivalents. These assels are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial habilitiss

Financial liabilities includas amount dus te fellow subsidianes and accounts payabla

and accrued expenses. These liabilities are measured at amortised cosl using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asse! expire, or where fhe financial azset together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transferred

17
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Ciigroup Firat invesimen! Management Lamded
Fanancial stafaments for the year anded 31 December 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average methed to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
derecognition.

Offsetting

Financial assels and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reporied in the
staternent of financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an inlention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
seltle the liability simultaneously.

Impairmeant

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measurad at
amartised cost.

The Company measuras loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
fallowing, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are defermined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial azseats for which credit risk (i.e the risk of default occurring over the
expacted life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition

The Company assumes that the credil risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
s more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalant to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expecled life
of a financial instrumant.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporling date {or a shorter perad if the expected life of the
instrurment is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurerment of ECLs

ECLs are the probability-weighted estimalte of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shorlfalls (ie. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the confract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
recaiva)

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset

18
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Cligroup Fost iivastiment Mavagamnen! Limaed
Financial shefernents for the year ended 31 December 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Credit-impaired financial a5sels

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assels carried at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is cradit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- it is probabls that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial recrganisation

Presenlalion of allowance for ECGLS in the statement of financial pasition

Loss allowances for financial assets measurad at amortised cost are deducled from the
gross carrying amount of the assets.

Write-aff

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its enlirety or a portion thereaof.

Revenue

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management services.

2022 2021
3 5
Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HEKFRS 15
Invegtmenl management fee income 58,037,164 81,820,082
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Ciigraue Firs! irvestment Manogemend Londed
Earargrai statemants for the yaar andad 31 Dacember 2022

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation iz arrived al after charging:

2022 2021

5 5

Management fee expenses 11,525,187 25,848 811

Sub-manager fee expanses 19,703 288 23,3285 076

Legal and professional fes 4,154 685 10,511 444

Auditars’ remuneration 503,043 475,086

Custody expenses 630.854 £897 584

Printing expenses = -

Others 626,054 956,843
Income tax

Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents:

2022 2021
:2 ¥
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Owver-provision in respect of the prior years (3,813) (6,155)
Provision for Hang Kong Profits Tax for the year 3,445,641 3.2&'03?
3,441828 3.283,922
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1872 2181
3,443,700 3,288,113

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at 16 5% (2021: 16.5%) of the
astimated assessable profits for the year.
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Cirfgraun First lmeastmant Menagement Lamiled
Fnancan stalemants for ine year ended 31 Decambar 2022

Income tax (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax charged to profit or loss and accounting profit at

applicable tax rates:

2021

18,795,279

3,268,221

25,047
{6,155

2022
Profit before taxation 22 023,808
Motional tax on profit before taxation at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) 3633928
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible
058 (186,415)
Cwver-provision in respect of prior years (3,813)
Actual lax expense 3,443 700

Currant tax payable in the statement of financial position represents:

3,286,113

2021
5

(623 0B1)
(2,013.442)

(8,155)

3,280,087

MNate 2022
5
Currant taxation bought forward 847,428
Hong Kong Profits Tax Paid (3,530,880)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax pravision
relaling to prior years (3,813)
Provision for Hong Keng Profits Tax for the
year 4(a) 3,445 841
149,368
21
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Citmgroue First Invasimant Managamant Limied
Financia! statements for by yeor ended 31 Decembar 2022

The companents of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and

the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 January 2021
Charged io statement of profit or loss and other
comprahensive income

At 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2022
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Al 31 December 2022

Depreciation
in excess of
the related
depreciation
alfowances
s

17,202
(2,181)

15,021

15,021
(1,872)

13,148

Total
&

17,202
(2,181)
15,021

15,021

(1,872)

13,149

As at 31 December 2022, thers is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not recognised

or provided for (2021: $Nil)

Directors’ emoluments

Directars’ emeoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kang Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies [Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulations are as follows:

Directors' fees

Salaries, allowances and beneafits in kind
Discretionary bonuses

Share based payments

Retirament scheme contributions
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2022
5

8,278,000
3,512,997
3.992.035

8680.700

16,543,732

2021
3

T.778,000
9,857,857
2,431,474

808,200

2087553
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise!

2022 2021

3 $

Cash at bank 79,042,876 308 193,038
Accounts receivable and other assets

2022 2021

5 2

Investment management fee receivable 3,607,843 5,018,058

Legal and professional fee receivabile 188,648 1,238,606

Others 191,098 115,538

3.985.588 &3&2_01?-

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the fee
receivables are interest free, unsecured and expected to be settled within three months.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2022 2021

& &

Legal and professional fee payable 1,612,852 2,719,835
Other payable 9,688,636 25283478
Audil fea 486 913 458,286
11,998.401 28,471,600

All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsacured and expected to be
zettled within three months,
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Share capital
Issued share capital
2022 2029
No. of No. of
shares Amourit shares Amount
E: 5
QOrdinary shares, issued and
fully paid:

At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accardance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, lhe ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally vaith regard to the Company's residual assets

Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management objectives.

The Company defines “capital’ as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2022 was 370,893 844 (2021: £288 482 234)

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, 1o the extent that these do not conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The rasults of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Keng Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is alse subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (*FRR"). The minimum hquid capital requirement is the
highar of $100,000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year.
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Related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial siatements, the Company had
tranzactions in the nomal course of business with related parties as follows:

Fee income and expanses

Mate 2022 2021
3 4
Fee income
Investment management fee income {ii) 5£8.037 164 81,829,082
Fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses {iii} {19.703,288) (23,385 0786)

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

- Mexico Bond Fund ("Fund Series 187)

- Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 207}

- Global Balance Plus Fund ('Fund Series 257)

- US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 277)
Treasury Premium Plus Fund (*Fund Searies 287)

- Treasury Premium Plus Il Fund ("Fund Series 317)

- USD Denominated Targel Setting al Maturity Fund 1703 ("Fund Senes 327) (Terminated
an 30 Mar 2022)

- JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation (*Fund Series 33") (Terminated on
17 Mar 2022)

- USD Denominated Target Setling at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Saries 347) (Terminated
on 30 Sept 2022)

- JGB Asset Swap Fund (“Fund Senes 357)

= Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 377)

- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 ("Fund Series 387) (Terminated on 30 Dec 2022)
- China Hong Kong Equity Opportunitizs Fund ("Fund Series 397)

- Target Seiting at Malurity Fund 1808 {"Fund Series 407)

- Multi Asset Systematic Strategies Fund (*Fund Series 417)

- Target Setling At Maturity Fund 1903 ("Fund Series 427)
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Material related party transactions (continued)
- Flexibeta Fund (WT5 Defensive and WT10 Active) ("Fund Series 437)

- USD Denominated Citigroup Note, Return Referring the High Watermark of Global Multi
Assel Strategy Fund ("Fund Series 447)

- Global Multi-Thematic Eguity Fund (*Fund Series 457)
US Equity Intraday Momentum Fund ("Fund Series 46"}
- Algebris Financial Hybrid Securilies Fund ("Fund Series 477)
- Agia Tolal Return Fixed Income Fund { Fund Series 487) (Launched on 24 Jan 2022)
- Mikkei 225 Bear Intraday Fund {"Fund Series 497)
- US Large Cap Equily Intraday Fund {*Fund Serigs 507}
US Large Cap Equity Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 527) (Launched on 21 Jan 2022)

- Citigroup Mote Target Setting at Maturity Fund 2203 ( Fund Series 53") {Launched on 31
Mar 2022)

- Citigroup Note Target Setting at Maturity Fund ("Fund Series 547)
- US T-Note Bear Intraday Fund (‘Fund Serieg 55°) (Launched on 17 Aug 2022)

CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")
- Kokusai Turkish Bond Open (1M} Aclive Currency Hedge ("KAM®)
The Company is entitied to fee income from the fallowing funds under its management:
Investment management/adivisory fee income
For Fund Series 19, 20, 25, 27, 28, 31, 32, 33, 34 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42 43, 44, 45, 46,
47, 48, 49, 50, 52, 53, 54, £5 CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculaled at 0.01% ta 0.57% per
annum of the net asset value of the funds.
Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 19, 39, 45 and 48, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable lo
the sub-managers calculated at 70%, 55%. 55% and 55% respectively of the gross
management fee income recsived. The tolal sub-managers' fee expenses paid to the sub-
managers for Series 19, 38, 45 and 48 as al 31 December 2022 amounled o $18,703,288
(2021: 523,385,076).
Management fee expenses
The Company paid management fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided

ancillary sale support services to the Company. The management fee expense for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to $11,525,187 (2021: 525,849,811)
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Material related party transactions (continued)
Key management personnel emolumants

Besides the directors’ emolurments disclosed in note 5, there werz no other key management
personnal amoluments.

2022 2021
% )

Amounts disclosed include emoluments
totalling 18,643 732 2087553

Amounts disclosed emoluments to certain key management personnel were paid by fellow
subsidiaries within Citigroup ("group companies"). The Company did not directly reimburse
the group companies for the service provided.

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidily and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's business.  These risks are managed by the Company's
financial managemant policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company's credil risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and outstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investment management activities. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risks is monitared on an ongoing basis.

Management fee receivables are regulardy reviewed and seftled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fellow subsidiarias, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remaole.

The maximum exposure to credil risk is equal to the carrying amount of these financial
assels as of the end of the reporiing penad.

Liquidity risk

The Company's liquidity risk management process is integrated into the liquidily and funding
process and liquidity monitoring framework of Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup netwark. Citigroup policy requires Ciligroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network to maintain a strong liquidity position and ensure sufficient cash flows to
meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, all financial liabilities malure within one year or are
repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contractual seltlemant dales of the financial
habilitizs are disclosed in notes 8.
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11 Financial instruments (continued)
{e)] Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market inlerest rates. The Company does not hold any fixed
rate deposits which are measured at fair value in the financial statements. The Company was
exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it eams bank interest on cash and cash
equivalents in 2022 and 2021 which is considered to be insignificant.

{d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange raie will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures o foreign currency rsk, management ansures that the net
exposure is kept at an acceplable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to cover the foreign currencies,

(i) Exposureto currency rsk
The following table details the Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting peried fo

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominaled in currencies other
than the funclional currency of the Company to which they relate.

2022 2021
Ausfrakan Sapasaza us Augtralior Sapanasa Us
Dodars Yan Dailars Ciaffars Yen Dovars
HKD HED HED HED HKD HED
Equiralnl ajvaanl aduivaland eaunabent exuniaiant equivaant
Cesh and cash
Bauivalents 228 503,082 33,081,601 3419 H52.524 EAT2E18
Accounts recanabhe
wnd other assels - 1,821,512 2,181,885 - 2,817 548 3,7EE.281
Accouns payabls
wnd accrued
EXDENSES . (1,971 23%) (10153, 842} - {1.473 267) 25,290,774)
Crogvill et
BXPOE LTS 228 1288.373 25,118,544 1419 2,096,803 (13,249,E74)

Hong Kong dollar (*HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following 1able indicates the instantanecus change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchangs rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reporting perod had changed at that date, assuming all olher risk variables
remained constant.

2022 2021
Increases Increase’
(decrease) Increase’ {decrease) Increase/
in foreign {decrease) in foreign (decrease)
exchange o profit axchange on profit
ratas before tax rales before lax
% s % 5
Australian dollars T8 18 1.87 Ga
= : (1.01) (35)
Japanese Yan 9.40 117,817 0.14 2,936
(0.10) (1.253) (0.85) (17.823)

The sensitivily analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rales had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expese the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting peried, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021,

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabililies are considered not to be materially different
from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021,

Immediate and ultimate holding company

Al 31 December 2022, the directors consider the Company’s immediate holding company to
be Ciligroup Global Markets Hong Kong Holdings Limited. which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
holding company at 31 December 2022 is considerad to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. preduces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use,
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13 Dividend

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year:

2022 2021
HKE HKS

Interim dividend declared and paid of US$1 493,85 per
ordinary share (2021; USSNIl) 234 148,495 -

14 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
new or amended standards, which are not yel effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 and which have not been adopled in these financial stalements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Company

Effective for
accounting penods
beginning an or aller

Amendments to HKAS 1. Presentalion of financial staterments and 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making maleriaiily judgerments:
Dusclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounfing 1 January 2023
estimates and errors: Definfion af accounting estimates

Amendments lo HEAS 12, Incorme Taxes: Delemed lax relaled (o 1 January 2023
assels and Fabilifies ansing from a single transaction

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presenialion of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Classification of Nabilties as curreni or non-current

Amendments o HKAS 1, Presanfalion of financial statameants: 1 January 2024
Non-currenit abiities with covenants

Amendments lo HKFRS 168, Leases. Lease labilily in a sale and 1 January 2024
leaseback

Tha Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected {0 be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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2023 10 2,595 38 7,978
91.67 CIBC
1965
CIMA
2023 10 750,691,060 1,122
1814
1962 1990
1970 1980
2023 10 915,026,450 175
83

2023 10 963

203/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 10 875 5,000

2023 10 10

26
198

204/249



90

90

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

205/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

12

206/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

207/249



1.1 1993
1.2
1.3
(a 1993
(b 2020
1.4
1.5 2022 12
1.6
2.1

2.2

CIMA

12,995 3,224

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1960

2020

2020
2020

CIMA

208/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.3

(a

(b

(a

(b

(c
2.4 CIMA CIMA

CIMA
2.5 2020
15
CIMA
2.6
3.1
CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA

3.2

CIMA

209/249



3.3

(a

(b
3.4
4.1

21

4.2

(a

¢

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CINA
®
®

CIMA 100,000 80,000

CIMA

2020 CINA

®
CIMA
®
15
®
80,000
CINA
CINA
CIMA CIMA
CINA
CINA

210/249

100,000



4.3

4.4

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

(c

(d

(e

CIMA
21
2006 12 27
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
3.2 CIMA
CIMA

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA

CIMA

211/249

48

CIMA

CIMA

10

CIMA



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

5.5 CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
(a
(b
(c
(d
(e ) )
(
(
(A 17
(B 12
(C
5.6 CIMA
5.7 CIMA
5.8 CIMA 24,390
30,488
8,536
36,585 42,682
8,536
6.1
(a

¢

212/249



6.2

(c

(@

(f
(¢

(h
(i

(k

a

(n

(a

¢

(c

30

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

20

213/249

Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA



6.3

(@

(e

(f

(9

(h
(i

(a

I

(c

¢

(f

150

1907

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

214/249

50

Ooooooooooooooooooad

1925



6.4

(9

(h

@i

(k

(a

(b

(c

«

(e

50

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

2016

50

215/249

Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA



7.1

7.7

7.8

7.9

CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

7.3

CIMA

(a
(b

(c

¢

(e
(f

7.7
CIMA

(a CIMA
(b
(c
(d CIMA

7.7
(a

7.3

OIC))

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CINA
500
CINA CINA
CINA
10
CINA
10
CINA CIMA
7.9
CIMA
CINA
CIMA
CINA
@) ®

216/249



.10

11

.12

.13

7.14
7.15

.16

.17

.18

.19

.20

.21

(b
(c
«

(e
CIMA

CIMA

7.9(d)
7.9(e)
7.13
7.9(d)
(a CIMA
(b
(c ()

7.9(d)

(a CIVA
(b

(c

@

(e

CIMA

CIMA

7.9

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

7.17

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA
CIMA
7.9(e)
CIMA CIMA
7.9(e)
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
7.9(e) 7.15
CIMA
7.15 CIMA
94(4)
7.9(d) 7.9(e)
7.9
CIMA 7.9(a)
7.17(c)

CIMA

) (€)) 4)

217/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@)
CIMA
8.1 CIMA CIMA CIMA
8.2 8.1
500
8.3
CIMA CIMA CIMA
CIMA
8.4 8.3 10
8.5 8.3
CIMA
10

8.6 CIMA CIMA

(a

(b
8.7 CIMA
8.8 CIMA 8.10

(a

(b

(c

(d

(e

(f

@

(h
8.9 CIMA 8.8

(a

218/249



8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

(  CINA

( CINA

~

(
(  CINA
(

(

(  CINA
(b CIVA

(c CINA

(d CIVA
8.8

(a
(b
(c
(d
(e
CIMA 8.10

8.10(d)

8.10(e)

8.13
8.10(d)
(a CINA

(b

(c (®

8.10(d)
(@ 8.15
¢

(a CIVA

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
8.10(e)
CIMA CIMA
8.10(e)
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
8.10(e)
CIMA CIMA
8.15 CIMA

219/249



.18

.19

.20

.21

1
(c CINA 8.10(d)

CIMA 8.16

CIMA

(a CIMA

(b

8.10

CIMA

CIMA

(a
(b
(c
(d

CIMA
(a 9.1(a) 9.1(d)
(b
(c
CIMA

(a

¢

¢

(e

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

94(4)

8.10(e)

CINA

CINA
CINA
CINA
9.1(a) 9.1(d)
CINA

CINA

220/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA

9.5 CIMA CIMA CIMA

9.6 CIMA

20

10 CIMA

10.1 CIMA CIMA

(a CIMA

I

(c

(a

(b CIMA
(c

¢ CIMA
CIMA

(e
(f

(¢
(h

(i CIMA
CIMA

11

11.1

221/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

11.2
11.3
(a 14(1)
14(2)
(b
11.4
(a
(
(
(b
(c
(d
(e
11.5
(a
(b
11.6
12

12.1 257

2221249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12.2 247 248
(a

(b
10

13
13.1
2008
CIMA
7.17(b) 8.17(b)
13.2
CIMA
7.17(c)

13.3

CIMA
7.17(d)

13.4

13.5

6.1(1) 6.2(9) 6.3(1)
6.4(e)

14

223/249



14.1

14.2 CIMA

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

14.7

(a

2003 11 17

CIMA

13.1

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1C))

CIMA

CIMA

20
CIMA

224/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

I

CIMA

(c

CIMA
( @@

CIMA

14.8
(a CINA

CIMA

¢

(c

(d

14.9

(a CIMA

(b CIMA

CIMA

225/249



(c

¢

(e

(f

(A

¢

21

15

10

(

)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

21 (4

12

()

50

21 (5)

226/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

50

(g 21 (6) 21 (4 21 (5)

(h
CIMA

14.10

CIMA

(b

(c 26

14.11

CIMA
CIMA

¢

(c

¢

14.12
(a ) (6) CIMA

CIMA

2271249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

I 37

A A A A A

x ) (xx ) xx )

(x
(x

(x

(x

(xx

(xx

(A

¢

228/249



(A

¢
(

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

229/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 12 27

2023 31 10

230/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 13

2013 12

231/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 13

17

1992

23 25

232/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FTIF

UCITS UCITS

233/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2015

234/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013
2157 10 21
2013 13
2008 10 21
2015 10

100

235/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

UCITS 2009 13 2009/65/EC

236/249



40

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 30

2023 30

237/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(guarantee)

238/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 12 15

239/249



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the
““Series Trust””), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set out on pages 7 to
40, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as at 30 June 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (““HKFRSs””) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (““HKICPA”?).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (““HKSAs”?) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors”
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
““Code””) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors® report from English to
Japanese. We have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the translation. In the event of any
inconsistencies between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our
auditors® report, the English version shall prevail.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditors® report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon (continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible
for assessing the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors”® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)

Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager®s and Trustee"s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust"s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors® report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG LLP
15 December 2023
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(““the Company””) set out on pages 7 to 30, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (““HKFRSs”?)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (““HKICPA””) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (““HKSAs””) and
with reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and
associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA®"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (““the Code””) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor”s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to report to you on the
other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
20 April 2023
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